
OSAWATOMIE CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

March 9, 2017 
6:30 p.m., Memorial Hall 

 
1. Call to order 
2. Roll Call 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Invocation  
5. Consent Agenda 

Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council member requests 
an item be removed for discussion and separate action. 

A. March 9 Agenda 
B. Council Minutes for February 9 and February 23, 2017 
C. Pay Application No. 3 (Final) – CDBG Sports Complex – McConnell – $15,783.50 
D. Lien Release - CDBG Sports Complex – McConnell  
E. KDHE Tri-Annual Water System Assessment 

6. Comments from the Public  
Citizen participation will be limited to 5 minutes.  Stand & be recognized by the Mayor.  

7. Presentations & Proclamations 
A. Proclamation –  Meals on Wheels Month  

8. Public Hearings  
A. CDBG Closeout Hearing – Streets (6:30) 
B. CDBG Closeout Hearing – Sidewalks & Sports Complex (6:45) 

9. Unfinished Business 
A. Deed of Dedication – Industrial Drive 

10. New Business 
B. Appointment to KMEA Director Position 
C. Grocery Store Status and Strategies 

11. Council Report 
12. Mayor’s Report  
13. City Manager & Staff Reports 
14. Executive Session –  
15. Other Discussion/Motions 
16. Adjourn 

 
NEXT REGULAR MEETING –March 23, 2017 



 

Osawatomie, Kansas.  February 9, 2017.  The Council Meeting was held in Memorial 
Hall.  Mayor Govea called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  Council members present were 
Dickinson, Hunter, Hampson, LaDuex, Maichel, Walmann and Wright.  Also present was City 
Manager Don Cawby, City Attorney Dick Wetzler and City Clerk Tammy Seamands.  Members 
of the public were:   Interim Police Chief David Ellis, Interim Assistant Police Chief David 
Stuteville, Public Safety Officer Joseph Hawk, Detective William Bradshaw,  Dave Peterson 
with JEO Consultants, Dan Macek, Brenda Haight, Dean Inscore, LeaAnn McGuire, Dillon 
McGuire, Brandon Law, Seresa Law and Charity Keitel with Miami County Replublic. 
 
 INVOCATION.    Brenda Haight, Vineyard of Hope 
 
 CONSENT AGENDA.   Motion made by Hunter, seconded by LaDuex to Approve the 
Consent Agenda as presented.  Yeas:  All.   
 
 COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC.    
 
 Brenda Haight, with Vineyard of Hope mentioned that they changed their service times at 
the church to 10 a.m. and 6 p.m.  Also, one of their goals is the help the community with their 
needs, as well as their spiritual needs. 
 
 Dean Inscore, 212 Brown Ave, advised the council that he has noticed there are a lot of 
older homes starting to be torn down in town, but nothing new is coming up.  He wants the 
council to consider financial incentives such as permits and utilities to possibly help bring in new 
growth. 
 
 PRESENTATIONS.   None. 
  
 PUBLIC HEARINGS.  None 
 
 UNFINISHED BUSINESS.  
 
 ELECTRIC GENERATION PROJECT – JEO PRESENTATION AND PROJECT 
UPDATE.  Dave Peterson, with JEO Consultants, updated the council on the project while he 
was in town for bid openings on the construction of 9th Street Substation.  No Action Taken.   
 

DEED LAND TO TRI-KO.  City Manager Cawby advised the Council that we now have 
a legal description and survey for the property, but the return deed of dedication for the right of 
way is not complete.  He is recommending to approve the deed subject to a signed deed of 
dedication for the right of way.  Motion made by LaDuex,  seconded by Hampson to Approve 
the Deed Land to Tri-Ko Subject to a Signed Deed of Dedication for the Right of Way.  Yeas:  
All.   
 
 NEW BUSINESS. 
 
 COUNCIL VACANCY – NOMINATING COMMITTEE REPORT.   
 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 1



 

COUNCIL VACANCY – APPOINTMENT TO VACANT WARD 2 COUNCIL SEAT. 
The nominating committee, comprised of Mayor Govea, President Hunter and Ward 2 

Councilman Kirk Wright, met to consider candidates.  The committee nominated Dan Macek to 
fill the vacancy on Ward 2.  Motion made by Hunter, seconded by Wright to Approve the 
Appointment to Dan Macek for Ward 2.  Yeas:  All.   

 
City Clerk, Tammy Seamands, administered the Oath of Office to Councilman Dan 

Macek. 
 
RON’S COUNTRY MARKET – REQUEST FOR DEPOSIT REFUND.  Skipped over 

until after Item 10.F.  City Manager Cawby spoke, in the absence of Ron Kleier, to explain 
Ron’s request.  Ron contacted the City to ask if the City would be able to speed up the return of 
his utility deposit to be used for operations.  City Manager Cawby reported that he explained to 
Ron the deposit was based on the utility history of the building prior to his purchase and that 
based on the current equipment and billing it looks like his bills a less.  Cawby told the Council 
he offered a decrease in deposit from $9,700 to $8,000, which Cawby is authorized to do.  
However, Cawby informed Ron that he would need to go before the Council to request a 
departure for the billing policies and explain the request to receive the full amount.  City 
Manager reported to the Council that Ron said he would like to be on the next agenda to ask for 
the full amount and to delay any action on the $1,700 reduction in the deposit.  The Council took 
no action as Ron Kleier did not attend the Council meeting.   

 
2017 GOLF COURSE CONTRACT – GREATLIFE GOLF AFFILIATION.  City 

Manager Cawby explained that Bryan Minnis with Maxim Golf, has been providing us with 
contract general management services for the last two years.  Mr. Minnis is now working with 
GreatLIFE Golf and Fitness providing the same services. Cawby reviewed benefits and changes 
of the new proposed contract with GreatLIFE.  Motion made by Maichel, seconded by Hampson 
to Approve the Contract as Presented.  Yeas:  All. 

 
2016 PRELIMINARY FINANCIALS.  City Manager Cawby briefly reflected on each 

fund to explain the ending balances.  General Fund is in good shape, the ending balance was 
increased by $152,000 over the 2016 estimate.  Water Fund balance was at $59,000 over the 
revised estimate.  Electric Fund balance was to increased, but yet stayed flat, due to a lot of 
changes in the year.  Employee Benefit Fund came out about even.   Street Improvement Fund 
balance increased about $36,000 due to a reimbursement related to the planning of the Main 
Street Phase II Project.  Sewer Fund finished with a $153,000 balance.   Golf Course Fund ended 
the year with a positive balance. 

 
REQUEST TO PURCHASE POLICE CAR FROM KANSAS HIGHWAY PATROL.  

Interim Police David Ellis presented to the Council current issues that the department has with 
their vehicles and equipment.  The 2017 budget of $30,000 was going to be used to purchase a 
new Ford Explorer, but the cost to purchase new came in around $39,000.  Interim Chief David 
Ellis then decided they would purchase a used patrol unit from the Kansas Highway Patrol 
(KHP), with 49,0000 miles, but later on found out it was not going to be available until August 
2017.  Based on these issues, Ellis proposed purchasing a used 2014 Dodge Charger from the 
KHP that would be within the $30,000 budget and available almost immediately.  Council 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 2



 

discussed options of used vehicles vs. new vehicles.   Motion made by Walmann, seconded by 
Wright to Purchase a New Ford Explorer and Equipment with a $40,000 cap.  Yeas:  7.  Nays:  1. 
 
 COUNCIL REPORTS.   
 
 Dan Macek mentioned there was 145 days until the 4th of July, he’s working on the 
firework stuff. 
 
 Lawrence Dickinson was not at the last meeting and missed the new officers, so will stop 
by to introduce himself. 
 
 Ted Hunter mentioned that someone has told him that it’s interesting that we don’t have 
cops, we have police officers. 
 
 Nick Hampson jokingly mentioned he thought the Council should drive the new Ford in 
the parade. 
 
 Tamara Maichel wanted to thank everyone for allowing her to serve 10 years with the 
council.   
  
 MAYOR’S REPORT.   
 
 Rural Fire Board is going to a budget and looking at their water rescue team.  Heard 
someone say that Osawatomie has had more taken place in the last 18 months, than they have in 
the last 18 years and it made him feel good. 
  
 CITY MANAGER’S REPORT.  
  
 Notified from the State that Silver Coatsm a program that helps with levee engineering 
assistance, are going to come in and help us do some work on the levee.  We will have a meeting 
in the next couple of weeks and we will put something together to present after that. 
 
 Progress of Casey’s and the Dollar General Store is going pretty fast with just a couple 
issues they have come across. 
 
 EXECUTIVE SESSION.    
 
 Motion made by LaDuex, seconded by Maichel to go into Executive Session for the 
purpose of discussing Non-Elected Personnel including the Mayor, City Council, City Attorney, 
and City Manager for 10 minutes ending at 8:24 p.m. 
  
 OTHER DISCUSSION/MOTIONS. 
  
 Motion made by Hunter, seconded by LaDuex to adjourn. Yeas:  All.  Mayor declared 
the meeting adjourned at 8:26 p.m. 
 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 3



 

 
                    /s/ Ashley Kobe                       
         Ashley Kobe, Deputy City Clerk  
 
 
 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 4



 

Osawatomie, Kansas.  February 23, 2017.  The Council Meeting was held in Memorial 
Hall.  Mayor Govea called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  Council members present were 
Dickinson, Hunter, Hampson, LaDuex, Macek, Maichel, and Walmann.  Absent was Wright.  
Also present was City Manager Don Cawby, City Attorney Dick Wetzler and City Clerk Tammy 
Seamands.  Members of the public were:   Pat Huss, Pastor Debra Huss, Jim Mitzner, Matt 
Chilson, Quintin Chilson, Vicki Hays, Fire Chief Brian Love, Lance Kerr, Jennifer McDaniel 
and Charity Keitel with the Miami County Republic. 
 
 INVOCATION.    Pastor Debra Huss with Let There Be Light Church  
 
 CONSENT AGENDA.  Approval of February 23rdAgenda and Appropriation Ordinance 
2017-01.  Councilman Macek asked how we determine where we purchase some items, such as 
auto repair.  Motion made by Hunter, seconded by LaDuex to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented.  Yeas:  All.   
 
 COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC.   
 
 Pastor Debra Huss with Let There Be Light Church spoke about the children’s service 
that they have offered since the fall of 2015.  They meet twice a month to learn about respect and 
authority along with the bible.  They invite all kids in the community.  
 
 Vicki Hays, 921 Pacific, expressed her concerns with cars with loud bass speakers and 
wondered if the City had a noise ordinance that could be enforced.     
 
 Quinton Chilson, Troop 106, was observing to earn a badge through the Scouts. 
 
 PRESENTATIONS.  None. 
 
 PUBLIC HEARINGS.  None 
 
 UNFINISHED BUSINESS.  
 
 ELECTRIC GENERATION PROJECT – AWARD BIDS – 9TH STREET 
SUBSTATION.   City Manager Cawby discussed and presented the bids for the transformer and 
for the construction of the equipment and facilities recommended by our JEO Project Engineer.   
Motion made by Hunter, seconded by LaDuex to Approve $283,019 to Virginia Transformer 
Corp for the Transformer  and $1,151,721 to IES Commercial for Group A & B on the 
Substation Construction.  Yeas:  All. 
 
 AFFECTED INTERCONNECTED FACILITIES SYSTEM STUDY AGREEMENT 
WITH SOUTHWEST POWER POOL.  City Manager Cawby explained to the council that the 
next step in the Southwest Power Pool Study process is to request an Interconnection Facilities 
Study Agreement and provide a deposit.  Motion made by Maichel, seconded by Hunter to 
Approve the Deposit of $15,000 and Authorize City Manager to Submit the Agreement.  Yeas:  
All.  
 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 5



 

  
 

NEW BUSINESS. 
 
 APPOINTMENT – PLANNING COMMISSION.   City Manager Cawby advised the 
council that there are two positions that have expired positions on the commission.  Brian King 
applied for other committees, but has shown some interest in this committee as well.  Cawby 
recommends replacing Tom Burgin or Jim Mitzner whose positions have not been reappointed. 
Cawby noted Mitzner reapplied in December.  Motion made by Hunter, seconded by LaDuex to 
Appoint Brian King on the Planning Commission to replace Tom Burgin.  Yeas:  All.  Motion 
made by Hunter, seconded by Maichel to Complete his Term on the Planning Commission until 
the end of 2017.  Yeas:  All. 
 
 PROPOSED ORDINANCE – CANDIDATE PETITION REQUIREMENTS.  Motion 
made by Hunter, seconded by Dickinson to Approve the Ordinance for Candidate Election 
Requirements.  Yeas:  All. 
 
 MOWER PURCHASE.  Cawby presented the bids that were submitted for a mower 
replacement for the Parks and Facilities Division.  Motion made by LaDuex, seconded by 
Hunter to Purchase the Kubota ZD1211 mower for $12,775 from Romans Outdoor Power.  Yeas:  
All. 
 
 APPROVAL OF CDBG CONTRACT – MAIN STREET PHASE II.  Cawby explained 
the next step of Phase II for the Main Street Project is to approve a grant agreement with the 
Kansas Department of Commerce.  Motion made by Hunter, seconded by LaDuex to Approve 
the CDBG Grant Agreement as Presented.  Yeas:  All. 
 
 COUNCIL REPORTS.    
 
 Jeff Walmann mentioned that he thinks we should have purchased three police vehicles at 
the last meeting. 
 
 Ted Hunter mentioned that it took crews just a couple of hours to fix an issue that he had 
called in and reported.  This coming Sunday evening the United Methodist Church will be 
cleaning up downtown in the 500 block of Main Street.  The progress of Dollar General is 
moving very quickly. 
 
 Lawrence Dickinson mentioned that on the 4th of March there will be a gospel concert at 
the Old Stone Church and there will be a chili feed at the Presbyterian Church beforehand. 
 
 Tamara Maichel wanted to compliment the city staff on how fast they took care of the 
alley easement issue that was spoke about at the previous meeting. 
 
 Karen LaDuex spoke to Bryce Smith with L&K Trash services regarding trash pick-up 
and he wants to be called if there are any issues that come up in the future. 
 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 6



 

 MAYOR’S REPORT.   
 
 Mentioned he attended the FEMA meeting. 
  

The high school called regarding the scholarships and asked if we should continue to do 
as we done last year. 
 
 STAFF REPORT. 
 
 Fire Chief Brian Love discussed the equipment currently at the Fire Department and what 
their needs are at this time.  Love requested guidance on specifications for a primary city fire 
truck.  He presented several options but recommended looking at purchasing a Quint because it 
has both ladder and pumper capabilities.  He asked for some consensus so he could start putting 
together costs for presentation in the budget.  The process is likely to be time consuming so he 
was seeking some consensus from the Council.  The Council discussion generally agreed that a 
Quint was the appropriate truck to pursue. 
 
 CITY MANAGER’S REPORT.  
 
 Does want to work on the bass speakers issue by coming up with an ordinance for an 
upcoming meeting. 
 
 Attended FEMA meeting and they are doing map revisions that will take approximately 3 
years.   
 
 Has met with John Worley to talk about the State Hospital Issues and met with Gary 
French to speak about the street project and other projects going on. 
 
 Has officially offered the Police Chief position to David Ellis and he has accepted.  

 
 EXECUTIVE SESSION.  None. 
 
 OTHER DISCUSSION/MOTIONS. 
 
 Motion made by Hunter, seconded by Hampson to adjourn. Yeas:  All.  Mayor declared 
the meeting adjourned at 8:20 p.m. 
 
 
                    /s/ Ashley Kobe                       
         Ashley Kobe, Deputy City Clerk  
 
 
 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 7



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 8



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 9



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 10



Water System name: OSAWATOMIE, CITY OF
Survey Name: TFM Survey
Survey Description: Tri-Annual Water System Assessment.
Survey Status: Completed
Survey Instructions: Complete the Survey and when you feel confident with your answers submit it to KDHE using the website or by mailing your completed Survey.

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 11



Technical
Sources
1.- What is your system's raw water source and/or who do you purchase water from (check and fill in all that apply)?

 Surface

Lake Name(s):

Stream Name(s):
Marais Des Cygnes River

  Ground

Number of Wells Used:

  Purchased

From:

  Don't Know

2.- Does your system have an emergency or supplemental water supply?
 Yes

 Back-up Wells

 Connection to another PWS

Name of PWS

 Back-up Surface Source

Name

 Other

Specify

  No   Don't Know

3.- If water is purchased from or treated by another system, is there a drought or other "cut-off" clause limiting the amount of water in your system's purchase contract?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   No purchased water

4.- If water is not purchased, does your water system have sufficient water rights issued from the Kansas Department of Agriculture, Division of Water Resources?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   No water rights, purchase water only

5.- How many times during the year 2014, did your system impose water use restrictions? Were restrictions mandatory or voluntary, and were they drought related?
 No Restrictions Imposed   Once

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

  Twice

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

  Three or more times

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

 

 Don't Know

6.- If restrictions were imposed during 2014, what was the total time duration?
 No Restrictions Imposed   Less than one month   One to three months   Three to six months   Six or more months

7.- How many times during the year 2015, did your system impose water use restrictions? Were restrictions mandatory or voluntary, and were they drought related?
 No Restrictions Imposed   Once

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

  Twice

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

  Three or more times

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

 

 Don't Know

8.- If restrictions were imposed during 2015, what was the total time duration?
 No Restrictions Imposed   Less than one month   One to three months   Three to six months   Six or more months

9.- How many times during the year 2016, did your system impose water use restrictions? Were restrictions mandatory or voluntary, and were they drought related?
 No Restrictions Imposed   Once

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

  Twice

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

  Three or more times

 Mandatory, Drought Related

 Mandatory, Not Drought Related

 Voluntary, Drought Related

 Voluntary, Not Drought Related

 

 Don't Know

10.- If restrictions were imposed during 2016, what was the total time duration?
 No Restrictions Imposed   Less than one month   One to three months   Three to six months   Six or more months

Page 2 of 82017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 12



11.- If restrictions were imposed during 2014, 2015, or 2016, was the restriction due to: (check all that apply)
 Treatment Capacity   Distribution or Storage Capacity   Raw Water Supply Source   Water Right Limitations   Water Quality  

 Water Purchase Contract   Minimum Desirable Streamflow   Other

Specify:
Water main break,
system pressure fell
below 20 psi in 2 block
area.

  No Restrictions Imposed

12.- If restrictions were imposed during 2014, 2015, or 2016, have the cause(s) for restriction been corrected?
 Yes

Explain:
Repaired water main, disinfected line and flushed.

  No

Explain: 

  Don't Know  

 No Restrictions Imposed

13.- Does your system have an approved Source Water Protection Plan or Wellhead Protection Plan?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Purchase Treated Water

14.- Has your Protection Plan been reviewed and updated within the last 3 years?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Not applicable, no plan

15.- Has your Source Water Assessment been updated to include any new or reactivated sources (surface or wells) that were not in use prior to 2003?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Purchase Treated Water   Not applicable, No new/reactivated sources

16.- Is your system's source capacity higher than your peak day demand by a margin of 50%?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Purchase Treated Water

17.- How many times in the previous three years (2014, 2015, 2016) has your system experienced taste and odor problems?
 No taste or odor problems during 2014, 2015 or 2016   2014

 None

 Once

 Twice

 Three or more times

  2015

 None

 Once

 Twice

 Three or more times

  2016

 None

 Once

 Twice

 Three or more times

18.- What is the average length of time your system's taste and odor problems persist?
 No Taste or Odor Problems   Less than a week   One to two weeks   Two to four weeks   More than four weeks

19.- What type of taste and odor problems does your system typically experience? Check all that apply and indicate the severity of the problem.
 No taste or odor problems   Musty or Earthy

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

  Fishy

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

  Grassy

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

  Rotten Egg

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

 

 Chlorine

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

  Metallic/Iron

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

  Other

Specify:

 Most Severe

 Moderately Severe

 Least Severe

Treatment Plants
20.- What is your system's average daily production in Gallons per Day (GPD)?

 Enter Daily Production

Gallons per Day:
771000

  Don't Know   Purchase Treated Water

21.- Does your system have emergency/standby electrical service (production and/or distribution)?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

22.- Can your system maintain full pumping and production operations during a 100 year flood event?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Purchase Treated Water

23.- If your system has a surface water treatment plant constructed more than 20 years ago, have treatment processes been upgraded to meet current standards?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Not Applicable (ground water treatment, purchase treated water)

24.- Did your system have any primary drinking water standard violations in 2016?

Page 3 of 82017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 13



 Yes

List the violations:
2950 2456

  No   Don't Know

25.- Did your system have any monitoring, reporting, or other violations in 2016?
 Yes

List the violations:
7500

  No   Don't Know

26.- What is your system's daily average water production expressed as a percentage of peak production capacity?
 Less than 50%   50% - 75%   Greater than 75%   Purchase Treated Water   Don't Know

Distribution
27.- Does your system's operation pressure for any customer service connection fall below 20 psi?

 Yes   No   Don't Know

28.- Does your system have at least 24 hours of finished water supply storage at average daily use?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

29.- Have your system's water storage facilities been inspected during the past 24 months?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   PWS does not have storage

30.- What is your system's unaccounted for water loss as a percentage of total production or purchase?
 Less than 15%   Between 15% and 29%   More than 29%   Don't Know

31.- Does your system have an active cross-connection control program?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

32.- Does your system have accurate maps of your distribution system?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

33.- Does your system's distribution system overlap or intertwine with another public water supply distribution system with which it is not interconnected?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

Managerial
34.- What is your system's governance structure?

 Elected board/council   Appointed   Sole ownership   Other

Describe: 

  Don't Know

35.- Does your system utilize any industry related service organizations, if yes check all that apply?
 Yes

 League of Kansas Municipalities

 Kansas Municipal Utilities

 Kansas Rural Water Association

 Kansas Section - AWWA

 Midwest Assistance Program

 Wichita State Environmental Finance Center

  No   Don't Know

36.- Do your system's operators have appropriate levels of certification according to the Kansas Department of Health and Environment classifications?
 Yes

Provide Name of Operator-In-Responsible Charge:
Stewart Kasper

  No   Don't Know

37.- If your system does not have a certified operator, has an operator-in-training (OIT) been issued by KDHE?
 Yes

Name of OIT:

  No   Don't Know   Not Applicable, operators have appropriate levels of certification

38.- Does your system have a back-up operator with the appropriate level of certification?
 Yes

Back-up Operator Name:
Bruce Hurt

  No   Don't Know

Page 4 of 82017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 14



39.- Does your system have written personnel policies and job descriptions signed by the employees?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   No Employees, Contract Labor   No Employees, Volunteer Labor

40.- Does your system provide benefits to employees (retirement, insurance, etc.)?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   No Employees, Contract Labor   No Employees, Volunteer Labor

41.- Does your system have and enforce formal policies for: payments/collections, main extensions/connections, etc.?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Don't Have Formal Policies

42.- Does the governing body review a monthly summary of revenues and expenses of the utility system?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

43.- Does your system have a formal plan for operations and maintenance (line flushing, pumps, meters, storage tanks, etc.)?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

44.- Does your system have an emergency water supply plan approved by the Kansas Department of Health and Environment?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

45.- Have you reviewed and updated your emergency water supply plan within the past 12 months?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Don't Have A Plan

46.- Does your emergency water supply plan coordinate with your county emergency plan?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Don't Have Approved Plan

47.- Does your system have a Water Conservation Plan approved by the Kansas Department of Agriculture, Division of Water Resources or the Kansas Water Office?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

48.- Has your system been cited for any deficiencies on the most recent sanitary survey, which have not been corrected?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

49.- Does your system have a public information program?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

50.- Does your system have a computerized record-keeping system?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

51.- Does the governing body approve expenses prior to payment being issued?
 Yes   No   Large purchases only

Approval by governing body greater than what dollar amount?
10000

  Don't Know

52.- Are at least two signatures required to purchase goods and services over $100?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

Financial
53.- Does your water system income exceed operating expenses (including debt services)?

 Yes   No   Don't Know

54.- Does your system fund a depreciation/capital improvement account?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

55.- Does your system have a capital budget or capital improvement plan that projects future capital needs for at least five years?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

56.- Does your system have financial reserves for emergencies?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

57.- Does your water utility support other enterprise funds or the general fund (cities)?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   Not Applicable (RWD)

58.- Does your system require revenues from other enterprise funds or the general fund for normal operations?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

59.- Does your system develop and follow an annual budget that is approved by the governing body?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

60.- Does your system have an audited financial statement prepared by a certified public accountant?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

61.- Has the auditor submitted a copy of their most recent peer review?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

62.- Are your audited financial statements prepared according to generally accepted accounting principals (GAAP)?
 Yes   No   Don't Know   GAAP requirement waived by KS Dept. of Administration

63.- Have your system's water rates been reviewed within the last three years?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

64.- Does your system's current rate structure produce income to cover current expenses, replacement costs, reserves, and/or contractual obligations?

Page 5 of 82017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 15



 Yes

 All Expenses Covered

 Some Expenses Covered (check all that appy)

 Current Expenses

 Replacement Costs

 Reserves

 Contractual Obligations

  No   Don't Know

65.- Answer the following questions about your retail residential water rates; first select the rate type your system uses. After selecting rate type, enter monthly minimum fee and
quantity information. Select gallons or cubic feet and click the green button labeled with your rate type and enter your rate data in the boxes. Do not use $ or commas.

 Flat Rate (Not Metered)

What is the monthly flat fee?

  Uniform Block Rate (Cost per unit does not change)

Minimum Monthly Fee
10.50

Quanitity of Water Included with Monthly Minimum Fee
1500

 Gallons

 Cubic Feet

 

 Increasing Block Rate (cost per unit increases with higher volume use)

Minimum Monthly Fee

Quanitity of Water Included with Monthly Minimum Fee

 Gallons

 Cubic Feet

  Decreasing Block Rate (cost per unit decreases with higher volume use)

Minimum Monthly Fee

Quanitity of Water Included with Monthly Minimum Fee

 Gallons

 Cubic Feet

 

 Seasonal Rate (tiered rate structure based on average winter consumption)

Minimum Monthly Fee

Quanitity of Water Included with Monthly Minimum Fee

 Gallons

 Cubic Feet

  Wholesale Water Provider Only, No Retail Residential Sales  

 Do Not Charge for Residential Water Use

 State or Federal Facility

 Mobile Home Park

 School

 Other

Specify:

Low Value High Value Rate
1501 100000 7.00

66.- Do you sell wholesale water to other public water supply systems?
 Yes

Monthly Minimum Fee
26.10

Charge per 1,000 gallons In Addition To Monthly Minimum
3.10

  Do not sell wholesale water

67.- Do you operate a waste water system?

Page 6 of 82017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 16



 Yes - please provide monthly residential charge information

Monthly Minimum Charge
28.25

Total Residential Charge for 5,000 gallons
14.5

  Don't operate a waste water system   Do Not Charge for Waste Water Treatment

 State or Federal Facility

 Mobile Home Park

 School

 Other

Specify:

68.- Please provide the number of service connections for each category.
 Residential

2016
1503

  Commercial

2016
111

  Industrial

2016
2

  Wholesale

2016
3

 

 Stock Water/Pasture

2016

  Power Production

2016

69.- Did your system's governing body review this survey before submission to the Kansas Department of Health and Environment?
 Yes   No   Don't Know

Planning
70.- Is your system considering an additional or different water supply source (raw or treated)?

 Yes, considering the following sources:

Sources Considered:
Marais Des Cygnes Public Utility Authority

  No, not considering another source

71.- If your system is considering additional sources, within what time frame do you anticipate activation?
 Not considering another source at this time   Five years or less   Six to ten years   Eleven to twenty years   Don't Know

Page 7 of 82017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 17



PPROCLAMATION 
ISSUED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, on March 22, 1972, President Richard Nixon signed into law a measure 
that amended the Older Americans Act of 1965 and established a national nutrition program for 
seniors 60 years and older, and

WHEREAS, Meals on Wheels America established the National March for Meals 
Campaign in March 2002 to recognize the historic month, the importance of Older Americans 
Act Nutrition Programs – both congregate and home-delivered – and raise awareness about the 
escalating problem of senior hunger in America, and

WHEREAS, the 2017 observance of the March for Meals campaign provides an 
opportunity to support Meal on Wheels programs that deliver vital and critical services by 
donating, volunteering and raising awareness about senior hunger and isolation, and

WHEREAS, Older Americans Act Nutrition Programs – both congregate and home –
delivered – in Kansas have served our communities admirably for more than 40 years, and

WHEREAS, volunteer drivers for Meals on Wheels programs in Kansas are the 
backbone of the program and they not only deliver nutritious meals to homebound seniors and 
individuals with disabilities, but also caring concern and attention to their welfare, and

WHEREAS, Meals on Wheels programs in Kansas proved nutritious meals to seniors 
throughout the State and help them maintain their health and independence and avoid 
unnecessary hospitalizations and/or premature institutionalization, and

WHEREAS, Meals on Wheels programs in Kansas provide a powerful socialization 
opportunity for millions of seniors to help combat loneliness and isolation, and

WHEREAS, Meals on Wheels programs in Kansas deserve recognition for the 
contributions they have made and will continue to make to local communities, our State and our 
Nation, and

NOW, THEREFORE, I, L. Mark Govea, Mayor of the City of Osawatomie, do hereby 
proclaim

March 2017
Meals on Wheels Month

in the City of Osawatomie, and I urge all citizens to take time this month to honor our Meals on 
Wheels programs, the seniors they serve and the volunteers who care for them.  Our recognition 
of, and involvement in, the national 2017 March for Meals campaign can enrich our entire 
community and help combat senior hunger and isolation in America.

Proclaimed this 9th day of March, 2017.

____________________________
L. Mark Govea, Mayor
City of Osawatomie

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 18



 

2017-03-09 SAM Deed of Dedication for Industrial Drive.docx 

 

 

 

STAFF AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

 

DATE OF MEETING: March 9, 2015 

AGENDA ITEM: Deed Property to Tri-Ko 

PRESENTER:  Don Cawby, City Manager 

ISSUE SUMMARY:   On February 9, you deeded a piece of vacant property to Tri-Ko to be sued for their 
expansion.  As part of this deal, we asked that they provide to us approval of a deed of dedication for 
their property on the south side of Industrial Drive, so that the right of way can be correctly established.  
We have not established and provided a deed of dedication for this purpose, which also includes the City 
deeding its portion of the affected properties on the south half of Industrial Drive as well.   

COUNCIL ACTION NEEDED:  Consider the deed of dedication to provide the City’s property to be deeded 
for the south half of Industrial Drive. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL:  Approve the Deed of Dedication as presented. 

 

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 19



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 20



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 21



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 22



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 23



 

2017-03-09 SAM KMEA Appointment.docx 

 

 

 
STAFF AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

DATE OF MEETING: March 9, 2017 

AGENDA ITEM: Appointment of KMEA Directors - Position #2 and Alternate 

PRESENTER:  Don Cawby, City Manager 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  According to section 5.1 and 5.7 article V of KMEA’s Bylaws (see attached), each 
KMEA member city is required to have two Directors and one Alternate on its Board of Director. Each 
Director should be appointed by the City Council and will serve for a two year term.  Currently we need 
to reappoint the Director #1 position. 

Currently the appointments are as follows: 

Position               Appointee Term Expires 

Director # 1:       Don Cawby 4/30/2017 

Director #2:        Stewart Kasper 4/30/2018 

Alternate:           Mark Govea 4/30/2018 

KMEA asks that Directors be able to attend KMEA’s Board of Directors Meetings in the month of May 
and November.  

COUNCIL ACTION NEEDED:  Discuss and make appointments for the Director #1 position.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL:  Staff recommends that the Director #1 position be filled by 
the City Manager.  At this time, the City Manager is the most involved senior staff member in electric 
purchasing decisions.  Until such time that duty is assumed by the Director of Public Works & Utilities, it 
makes sense for this Director position to remain as the City Manager.     

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 24



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 25



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 26



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 27



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 28



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 29



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 30



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 31



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 32



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 33



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 34



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 35



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 36



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 37



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 38



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 39



2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 40



Osawatomie Police Department
Monthly Report

Feb-17
26 Warrant Arrests 

31 Other Arrest and /or Charges filed

145 Traffic Stops

75 Suspicious Activ., Inv. Persons, Ped Checks, Prowlers

8 Traffic Accidents

42 Assist EMS

0 Sex crimes

19 Damage to Prop., Thefts, Burglarys,

2 Drug Cases 

36 Animal calls

4 Child in Need of Care, Runaways, Missing Children

13 Vehicle Lock outs

53 Citizen Inquires

80 Calls for service otherwise not classified

638 Calls handled by Officers

*917 Totals occurrences for the month

55 Traffic  Citations  
10 Other Citations
65 Total Citations

 * Total occurances for the month include calls for service and dispatch activity, 
such as the issuance of burn permits, accepting fine payments, logging vehicle fuel, 
county fire calls, and other public assistance.

Escorts, Civil Stand-bys, 911 Misdials, Motor Assist, X-Patrol, Alarm Calls, Welfare Checks

Assist Out Side Agency, Loud Music, , Traffic Haz, Driving Complaints, Drug Testing Finger 
Printing, Open Doors, Follow-ups, Found Property, Warrant Attemps, etc..

22
Fights , Disturbance, Assualts, Domestics, Harras,Violation of Protection Orders

43

70

2017-03-09 Agenda Packet v1 41



 

2017-03-09 SAM Grocery Store.docx 

 

 

 
STAFF AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

DATE OF MEETING: March 9, 2017 

AGENDA ITEM: Grocery Store Status and Strategies 

PRESENTER:  Don Cawby, City Manager 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  With the surprise closure of Ron’s Country Market on February 23, the last two weeks 
have included a lot of time and research into short and long term solutions.  This memo will layout and 
update of what we believe is the current status of the former store and then lay out a list of strategies 
and options available for bringing a vibrant grocery store back to Osawatomie. 

Status 

Even though the closure is close to two weeks ago, we really don’t have a lot of information on what to 
do next.  What we do know: 

• Moon’s Hometown Market (owner of the store) has purchased the remaining inventory from the 
AWG warehouse and is conducting a closeout sale.  This is likely to happen for a few weeks. 

• The creditor for the coolers and equipment are conducting an appraisal of the equipment and 
also planning to leave the equipment in the store as long as Moon’s allows it. 

• The City has moved the utility costs back over to Moon’s as of the 26th and Ron’s final bill was 
covered by the deposit. 

• We know there may be another creditor involved with the store improvements, but at this time 
we are unsure of that amount and status. 

• We expect to see a formal bankruptcy action. 

 

As demonstrated on the following charts, an analysis of the numbers shows a couple of positive trends 
as far as the changes that Ron Kleier made to the store.   

Electric Usage.  First, electric usage costs dropped dramatically after the purchase of the new coolers 
and cabinets.  Electric usage appears to have dropped about 20% since the installation of the coolers.  
At an average cost per kWh of 10 cents, that amounts to a savings of around $2,000 per month.  That 
savings will rise when higher energy prices return. 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S1



2017-03-09 SAM Grocery Store.docx  Page 2 

 

 

 

Sales.  Second, without divulging specific amounts, a review of taxable sales from the store from August 
through December showed around an 11% increase in taxable sales over the previous year’s totals.  
Those same amounts were 9% over the three-year average.  Also, those sales weren’t just a result of the 
“new” factor, as taxable sales from November through January were actually 14% higher (compared to 

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

04/30/11 04/30/12 04/30/13 04/30/14 04/30/15 04/30/16 04/30/17

kWh

Grocery Store Billing
Usage & Charges by Month

Usage Charges Linear (Usage)

$0.04

$0.05

$0.06

$0.07

$0.08

$0.09

$0.10

$0.11

$0.12

04/30/11 04/30/12 04/30/13 04/30/14 04/30/15 04/30/16 04/30/17

$/kWh

Grocery Store Billing
Total Cost per kWh

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S2



2017-03-09 SAM Grocery Store.docx  Page 3 

9% for the whole six months).  We believe those numbers will help to show that not only was the new 
store able to pick up sales, but it was also continuing to grow as habits changed and familiarity grew.   

 

 

Evaluation of Options 

There are several different options available for a community having a grocery store.  Attached to this 
memo are some brochures provided by Kansas State which outline a description and case study for each 
type.  Those options are: 

• Sole Proprietorship 
• Not for Profit 
• Cooperative 
• Public-Private Partnership 
• Community Owned 

Of course, there are varying degrees of each one of these models and some tend to bleed over into the 
other models depending on those changes.  However, outside of recruiting a major chain store to the 
community (which is very unlikely), these are the models that exist and the boundaries in which we can 
work to find a role for the City and community to play in attracting a grocery store operation. 

Corporate/Aldi’s Store.  While Facebook has been abuzz about getting an Aldi’s in Osawatomie, or some 
discount operation like it, I don’t believe that will happen, or would have ever happened.  Here are some 
facts that should help with addressing this issue: 

• Aldi’s typically seeks a population base around 30,000 and we don’t meet their income 
criteria. 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Grocery Store Sales
2016 Sales & Prior Year Trends

2016 Moon 2016 Ron Linear (2010) Linear (2011)
Linear (2012) Linear (2013) Linear (2014) Linear (2015)
Linear (2016 Moon) Linear (2016 Ron)

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S3



2017-03-09 SAM Grocery Store.docx  Page 4 

• They closed a store in Ottawa that was below their population threshold. 
• A typical discount grocery retailer (Aldi’s, Save-A-Lot, etc) would have to build a new store, 

because Moon’s building is too large and the shelving would all have to be replaced. 
• As a community we have done a good job of telling Aldi’s through Facebook how many people 

in our community people already drive 25 miles to shop there, what is their incentive to come 
here? 

• There are many other “low hanging fruit” locations for a corporate store to locate, other than 
in a bedroom community of 4,300. 

 

Obstacles.  After reviewing the several articles (a couple which are attached) and evaluating our history 
and current status, I have developed a list of the following obstacles I believe we have to overcome in 
order to have a successful store in Osawatomie.  This is obviously not an exhaustive list, but I think it 
encapsulates the major areas of concern. 

1. Regional Competition/Community Support 
2. Non-local Employment/Habits 
3. Equipment Owned Separately from Store 
4. Size of Building/Overhead for Sales Area 
5. Population Growth 

 

Possible City Actions/Incentives 

1. City purchase and hold equipment (with assistance of Bank) for new owner.  Partial 
forgivable loan for 5 years. 

Pros:  Reduces overhead for new operator to get in store.  Keeps efficiency savings.  Equipment 
in place could be bought from creditor much less than bringing in used equipment and 
installing.   Building is ready to operate. 

Cons:  Risk to public & bank.  Creates a complex 4-way partnership.  City and Bank would have 
to negotiate a rental agreement with owner to make sure all parties are not excessively 
profiting from arrangement.   

Ballpark Estimate:  $250,000; $100,000 reimbursement. 

 
2. Assist in downsizing of store – rent/sell space for secondary business.   

Pros:  Reduce grocery store overhead and rent for new operator.  Helps owner make the 
building viable.  Creates additional draw to location.   

Cons:  May reduce appeal to operator.  How to finance and justify modifications in building not 
owned by City?  What business would occupy?  If partial or full payback required, owner has 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S4



2017-03-09 SAM Grocery Store.docx  Page 5 

limited incentive to do it.  Modifications would likely create costs for equipment relocation.  
Parking concerns with additional business.  

Ballpark Estimate:  $300,000; $0 reimbursement. 

 
3. City purchase Old Dollar General Store to provide forgivable loan.  

Pros:  Would meet basic market needs, but current size is limiting.  Reuse of vacant building in 
City.  Lease/purchase option to finance.  Provide option for ownership, coop or city-owned. 

Cons:  Parking - additional land required from railroad for delivery and parking. May be too 
small.  May require external cooler/freezer.  May reduce appeal to operators.  Condition of 
building unknown.  Still have large vacant building with limited uses. 

Ballpark Estimate:  $600,000; $200,000 reimbursement. 

 
4. City Owned New Store 

Pros:  New store could be extremely efficient and would be right-sized.  City may have financing 
options for new building.  Grants or tax credits might be available.  Store could be in more 
attractive location.  New store attractive to operators.  Provide option for ownership, coop or 
city-owned.  City could control rent costs and provide deferred payments or partial forgiveness. 

Cons: City would need the Building Commission model because of need to debt finance.  Store 
and new equipment would be very expensive.  Debt funding source likely only (sales or 
property tax).  Land hard to acquire, limited locations and sellers.   City would have to be 
landlord unless sold.  Perception that City is responsible for building condition and operator. 

Ballpark Estimate:  $2,000,000; $1,500,000 reimbursement. 

 

Recommended Strategy 

1. Find a New Owner for Existing Store.   

I believe the first, and most prudent path for the city to take is to assist in the recruitment and placement 
of a new owner/operator in Osawatomie.  Here is my case for this approach. 

• Sales Goals Are Achievable.  In the short time Ron’s had the store, it demonstrated that 
increased sales can occur in Osawatomie.  Based on discussion with Mike Moon, the 
threshold that I believe the store only needs add about $5,000 per week more to regain a 
steady footing.  I believe that we were headed in that direction.  In real terms, that number 
is equal to 1/3 of the city’s households spending $10 more per week in the store than they 
have previously.  That change is very achievable through education and promotion. 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S5



2017-03-09 SAM Grocery Store.docx  Page 6 

• Overhead Costs Will Be Less.  The store has already demonstrated it has a $2,000 per month 
savings in energy efficiency.  Also, if the equipment can be maintained, the costs to acquire 
the equipment in the building and pay off outstanding debt will be much less than it was for 
Ron’s.  Whatever his financing costs were, these items could easily be reduced by 50% or 
more, even without City incentives. 

• Opportunity.  The grocery community is somewhat stunned by what happened in 
Osawatomie two weeks ago.  I believe we have an opportunity, through a good strategy and 
a united message to bring a grocer here that might not have otherwise been interested, 
because of the unique circumstances.  I wouldn’t call it the sympathy card, but we definitely 
have a card to play in the grocery world about the circumstances of the store’s demise. 

• Partnerships.  City staff has already met with Mike Moon and First Option Bank to talk about 
options for moving forward in attracting a new owner.  We all agree that the key to reselling 
the current building to a new owner is to find a way to keep the equipment in the building.  
We also believe the store as it sits now is attractive to a new owner.  The equipment owner 
has also expressed the same opinion and seems willing to work with us, likely buying us 
several months in which to try to find a store operator.    

• Most Cost Effective Option.  Based on the estimates above, the amount of money the City 
might have to pay in incentives would be much less by recruiting a new owner/operator.   
 

2. Look at Possibilities for Public-Private Partnerships.   
While we are working hard on the first strategy, I would like to work behind the scenes to develop a 
contingency plan, with some scenarios where the City might be able to assist in owning a store or 
property necessary for a viable grocery store.  While I can readily admit that I have no real desire to 
implement any contingency plan, I think we need to identify the best of the undesirable options and 
be ready to move in the fall with a plan, should we fail at attracting a new owner. 

 

COUNCIL ACTION NEEDED:  Consider, provide feedback and discuss strategies. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL:  None.     

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S6



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S7



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S8



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S9



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S10



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S11



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S12



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S13



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S14



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S15



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S16



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S17



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S18



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S19



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S20



2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S21



 

 

RURAL GROCERY STORES: 

IMPORTANCE AND CHALLENGES 

Jon M. Bailey 
Center for Rural Affairs 

Rural Research and Analysis Program 
October 2010 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S22



 

 

The local grocery store is an integral institution of rural communities and in rural life. 
Not only does the local grocery store provide the sustenance of life, it fills the roles of 
economic driver, community builder, employer and meeting place. Unfortunately, many 
rural communities across the nation are losing local grocery stores, and residents are 
forced to leave their communities to purchase food, often at great expense due to 
great distance. This brief examines trends regarding rural grocery stores, reasons why 
rural communities are losing grocery stores, and some of the personal and community 
implications when a community lacks a grocery store. Finally, we examine some of the 
issues and challenges facing rural grocery stores. 

 

The Disappearing Rural Grocery Store 

Rural grocery stores are slowly disappearing across the nation. Specific data on the 
decline can be seen in Midwestern and Great Plains states. 

• In Iowa the number of grocery stores with employees dropped by almost half 
from 1995 to 2005, from about 1,400 stores in 1995 to slightly over 700 just 10 
years later. Meanwhile, “supercenter” grocery stores (Wal-Mart and Target, for 
example) increased by 175 percent in the 10-year period. (O’Brien) 

• In rural Iowa, 43 percent of grocery stores in towns with populations less than 
1,000 have closed. (Procter) 

• In Kansas, 82 grocery stores in communities of fewer than 2,500 people have 
closed since 2007, and nearly one in five rural grocery stores has gone out of 
business since 2006 (Kansas State; Procter). In total, 38 percent of the 213  
groceries in Kansas towns of less than 2,500 closed between 2006 and 2009. 
(Impact Lab) 

As with many other traditional institutions in rural areas, the local grocery store is 
slowly being drained out of communities. 

 

The Reasons Why 

Many reasons conspire to leave a community without a grocery store. Declining  
populations mean that a number of rural communities are without an adequate  
customer base for a local store. A certain population is needed to maintain a grocery 
store. In 2000, the average population needed to maintain a grocery store was 2,843. 
By 2005 the necessary population had risen to 3,252. (O’Brien) While the minimum 
needed population is increasing, most rural communities and counties are decreasing 
in population. Rural grocery stores, therefore, are fighting larger rural demographic 
trends. 

Rural grocery stores are also fighting changes in larger purchasing patterns among 
Americans. Between 1990 and 2000, the incidence of residents in towns with  
populations under 2,500 out-commuting (going to work and presumably shopping in 

1 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S23



 

 

other communities) increased by 72 percent. 

The advent of corporate, chain grocery store facilities in nearby larger cities and the 
relative ease in driving due to advances in vehicles and highways often make shopping 
at larger grocery stores more attractive, further reducing the customer base and the 
economic margins for small, local stores. The lack of employment opportunities in 
many rural communities means rural residents have to work in larger communities, 
with shopping more convenient in places where people work. 

This combination of work and shopping patterns among so many rural people is also 
shown in consumer preferences of how people choose their grocery store. A 2007 
Nielsen Company study found that 60 percent of consumers stated that a grocery store 
that “provides good value for the money” was the most important factor in deciding 
where to grocery shop. Only 23 percent of consumers cite proximity to home as the 
most important factor. (Nielsen) 

Aging ownership and a lack of transfer opportunities may leave communities without a 
local store when owners retire or decide to leave the business. A lack of available 
small business capital in rural communities may also prevent younger or new  
entrepreneurs from beginning a grocery business. 

All of these demographic and economic issues exist in many rural communities of the 
nation (and most rural communities of the Midwest and Great Plains), leaving a large 
section of the nation and a large portion of rural America to struggle with questions of 
how to provide food to a community in ways that benefit the local community. 

 

Implications for the Community 

For most rural communities facing the loss of a local grocery store, failure is not an  
option. Allowing a local store to close and remain closed until the community or the 
economy rebounds does nothing but place the community on a path for further  
depopulation and economic decline. New residents and young families are unlikely to 
want to live in a community without a place to purchase food, and purchase patterns 
get set as people start and become accustomed to purchasing food in another  
community. The lack of resources and reliable transportation for many rural residents 
also raises the specter of hunger and unhealthy eating in communities without a local 
grocery store. 

The loss of local grocery stores and the continued consolidation of food retailers also 
affect rural populations differently. Of particular concern is the rural elderly. As their 
“mobility and social support system diminish with the out-migration of younger family 
members” they become more dependent upon non-local food sources to which they 
have to drive or find transportation. (Morton 2004) An Iowa study of rural residents 
found significant long-term implications of the disappearing local grocery store. Rural 
residents over 70 years of age are more dependent on the local grocery store and  
depend upon others more for transportation for grocery shopping. (Morton 2004) As 
grocery shopping and transportation options become less available in rural  

2 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S24



 

 

communities the rural elderly are the ones who will be most affected. 

All residents in many rural areas of the nation—no matter their age or income—are  
affected by the growing phenomena of rural “food deserts”—the lack of outlets to  
purchase food despite the public and private resources to do so. The lack of access to 
grocery stores in many rural areas is striking. The most recent data available from 
USDA shows that 803 counties in the United States are classified as “low access”  
areas, meaning half or more of the population of the county lives 10 or more miles from 
a full-service grocery store. (Morton 2007) 

The Great Plains region has the largest concentration of such counties (while also hav-
ing the largest concentration of high out-migration counties). USDA has classified 418 
counties as “food deserts”—all the residents of a county are 10 or more miles away 
from a full-service grocery store—and 98 percent of those counties are rural. (Morton 
2007) Again, the Great Plains was found to have the highest concentration of “food  
desert” counties. The real life consequences of living in a “food desert” are less access 
to a full range of healthy foods, less healthy eating, and less healthy people. The long-
term consequences of less healthy individuals, families and communities are, of 
course, substantial. 

The map below shows counties lacking convenient access to grocery stores across the 
nation. 

 

3 

Source: Procter, Morton 2007 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S25



 

 4 

Issues and Challenges Facing Rural Grocery Stores 

The issues and challenges facing rural grocery store mirror the larger ones facing rural 
communities and rural small businesses. In 2008, the Rural Grocery Sustainability  
Project of the Kansas State University Center for Engagement and Community  
Development surveyed rural Kansas grocers on a variety of topics, including the issues 
and challenges facing them. (Clark) The surveyed rural grocery stores offered the  
following, in order, as the major challenges for their stores (respondents could chose 
as many offered options as applied): 

• Competition with large chain grocery stores 

• High operating costs 

• Availability of satisfactory labor 

• Narrow profit margins 

• Taxes 

• Government regulations 

• Lack of community support 

When asked to identify the most significant challenge, the respondents offered, in  
order: 

• Operating costs/utilities 

• Labor availability/costs 

• Competition with large chain grocery stores 

• Taxes and regulations 

• Lack of community support 

• Low sales volume 

The survey also revealed other issues facing rural grocery stores. Nearly half of  
respondents stated minimum purchasing or ordering requirements were set too high, 
with the most respondents stating that they were charged a surcharge if the minimum 
order was not met. About 40 percent of respondents also said they were not provided 
fair pricing compared to chain stores, and 35 percent stated they had problems getting 
products delivered because of their location. (Clark) 

Based on this input, Kansas State University has identified six general challenges to 
rural grocery stores. (Rural Grocery Store Sustainability) 

Challenge #1: Competition with Chain Grocery Stores 
Challenge #2: Coping with the High Costs of Energy 
Challenge #3: Meeting Minimum Buying Requirements 

Challenge #4: Dealing with Labor Issues 
Challenge #5: Dealing with Community Support 
Challenge #6: Models of Ownership 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S26



 

 

Rural counties defined as “food deserts” or with low-access to food face significant 
economic and health challenges. A survey of rural Iowa counties meeting the “food  
desert” criteria found that large segments of the population lacked adequate  
consumption of fruits, vegetables, dairy and protein. (Morton 2007) This is an issue of 
cost or access, or both. Studies have found that rural grocery stores have “limited  
variety of quality foods” and “tend to charge higher prices for those products.” (Morton 
2007, Morris, Kaufman) Yet the Iowa survey found that when compared to superstores, 
many local grocery stores charged lower prices for basic food products important to a 
healthy diet and that local residents took advantage of the small local grocery stores in 
their community. (Morton 2007) Findings demonstrate hope for local grocery stores in 
rural, low-access and food desert areas.  

Our next Brief will examine models of rural grocery store ownership and how they deal 
with each of the challenges facing rural grocery stores.  

 

 

References 

O’Brien, Meghan. 2008. Small Town Grocers in Iowa: What does the future hold?Ames, Iowa: 
Iowa State University Extension.  

Procter, David E. “The Rural Grocery Store Crisis,” Daily Yonder, August 18, 2010.  
http://www.dailyyonder.com/rural-grocery-crisis/2010/08/17/2893. 

Kansas State University, Rural Gocery Initiative. http://www.ruralgrocery.org/. 

Impact Lab. “Grocery Stores Closing in Record Numbers,” July 5, 2010.  

Nielsen Company. 2007. “Good Value is the Top Influencer of U.S. Grocery Store Choice,  
Nielsen Reports.” Schaumburg, Illinois: The Nielsen Company. 

Morton, Lois.W., Bitto, Ella A., Oakland, Mary J., and Sand. Mary. 2004.“Iowa Food Security, 
Insecurity, and Hunger.” Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University Extension.  

Morton, Lois W., and Blanchard, Troy C. 2007. “Starved for Access: Life in Rural America’s 
Food Deserts.” Rural Realities, Volume 1, Issue 4.  

Clark, Paul, Tsoodle, Leah, and Kahl, Dan. 2008. Rural Grocery Sustainability Project Owner 
Survey. Manhattan, Kansas: Kansas State University, Center for Engagment and Community 
Development.  

Kansas State University, Rural Grocery Store Sustainability. http://www.ruralgrocery.org/
bestpractices/. 

P. M. Morris, L. Neuhauser, and C. Campbell. 1992. “Food Security in Rural America: A Study 
of the Availability and Costs of Food.” Journal of Nutrition Education 24: 52S-8S; (1992). 

P.R. Kaufman. 1998. “Rural Poor Have Less Access to Supermarkets, Large Grocery Stores.” 
Rural Development Perspectives 13: 19-26.  

5 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S27



 

 

ABOUT THE AUTHOR 

Jon Bailey is Director of the Rural Research and Analysis Program at the Center for 
Rural Affairs. Jon has undergraduate and law degrees from Creighton University and a 
Masters in Public Policy from the College of William and Mary. Jon served as  
Legislative Fellow with U.S. Senator Kent Conrad and Special Assistant to the  
Associate Commissioner for Policy and Planning in the Social Security Administration. 
Jon has authored publications on rural health care policy, rural development policy and 
contributed to the Wealth Building in Rural America project sponsored by the Center 
for Social Development at Washington University. 

 

 

 

ABOUT THE CENTER FOR RURAL AFFAIRS 

Established in 1973, the Center for Rural Affairs is a private, nonprofit organization 
with a mission to establish strong rural communities, social and economic justice,  
environmental stewardship, and genuine opportunity for all while engaging people in 
decisions that affect the quality of their lives and the future of their communities. 

 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

This paper is made possible by the generous assistance of the Cooperative  
Foundation and the MSC Fund of the Cooperative Development Foundation. 

 

 

 

© 2010, Center for Rural Affairs, 145 Main Street, P.O. Box 136 Lyons, Nebraska, 
USA 68038 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S28



THE RURAL GROCERY CRISIS 
• By David E. Procter 

  
August 18, 2010 
Print article 
 
Rural groceries are in trouble. They are pressured by high utility costs, competition from 
big box chains and by customers who drive to find bargains instead of buying at home 
 
 “We are one of your statistics, I’m afraid. We are losing our grocery store in Protection. The 
owner has an illness and she must sell or go out of business. It will be a sad situation for an 
already depressed town.” 
 
This email, from an economic development director in Southwest Kansas, is one of many 
we’ve received at Kansas State University. Similar emails, letters, and phone calls are 
coming into non-profits, local governments, universities, and economic development 
offices, and all are making the same point. 
Rural America’s grocery stores are facing a crisis. These businesses are closing at an 
alarming rate. Almost daily another small-town, independently-owned store shuts its doors 
and closes up shop. 
 
In Iowa, for example, 43% of grocery stores in towns with populations less than 1,000 have 
closed, while in Kansas, nearly one in five rural grocery stores has gone out of business 
since 2006. These disappearing businesses are creating a crisis, as rural grocery stores 
represent a critical piece of the infrastructure that sustains rural America. 
 
Rural grocery stores are part of the economic engine that sustains rural communities. They 
are a significant source of local taxes, powering the creation and maintenance of civic 
services and amenities. They provide essential, stable jobs – butchers, cashiers, managers, 
and stockers – at a time when we are desperate for employment opportunities. 

 
Dollars spent at a local, independently-owned grocery store cycle through the local 
economy more than do dollars spent in national chain stores at the edge of town, and 
certainly more so than when those dollars are spent at an out-of-town big-box market.  
 
Rural grocery stores are also a vital source for nutrition and health, providing a supply of 
fresh fruits, vegetables, dairy and protein. Where no grocery store exists, rural citizens are 
living in a “food desert.” Citizens in these food-deprived areas struggle simply to find 
healthy and nutritious food for their families and themselves. 
 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S29

http://www.dailyyonder.com/tag/by_david_e._procter/
http://www.dailyyonder.com/rural-grocery-crisis/2010/08/18/2893/


From initial investigations out of our office at the Center for Engagement and Community 
Development at Kansas State University, it has become clear that many parts of rural 
America are facing a crisis of access to healthy foods. Research indicates that millions of 
rural Americans live in food deserts. 
 
A majority of the land area In several states of the Midwest and Mountain West could be 
described as food desert.  “Severe” food desert counties – area where citizens have to drive 
more than 10 miles to a grocery store – are still apparent in the western portions of the 
Great Plains states. Approximately 40% of Kansas counties are “severe food desert” 
counties, and a significant portion of the population in half of Oklahoma’s 77 counties live 
in severe food deserts. The following map displays the food deserts throughout the U.S. 
and illustrates the severity of this problem in the central plains.  
 
Grocery stores are also important vehicles for community development. They serve as 
gathering places, where folks see one another, talk about the latest issues affecting their 
towns, and dream together about what their communities could be. Just like our local 
schools, cafes, and post offices, rural grocery stores are important community assets, 
providing tangible evidence of local strength and stability.  
So, the question is, why are these rural stores closing? Certainly, there are difficult 
economic and demographic trends that hurt rural grocery stores’ chances to remain 
profitable These include rural population decline, increased competition from larger chain 
stores, new shopping patterns, and changing food distribution models. 
 
But we wanted to understand the crisis from the perspective of the rural grocery store 
owner and work to address those challenges. To understand the significant challenges 
rural grocery stores face, Kansas State mailed a survey to all rural grocery stores in Kansas 
communities with populations of 2,500 or less. Eighty-six of the 213 grocery stores 
responded. (You can see the full survey and complete results here.) 
 
Kansas State University and the Kansas Sampler Foundation – a Kansas non-profit 
dedicated to preserving rural Kansas – hosted a rural grocery summit in 2008 and asked 
the 70 storeowners attending to describe their most significant challenges. Finally, we 
conducted in-depth interviews with five rural grocery store owners and again asked them 
about the issues that challenged them the most. 
 
From all of this, we identified the “Big Seven Challenges” facing rural grocery store owners. 
These challenges and the percentage of store owners identifying them as significant are 
illustrated in the graph below. 
 
*The most frequent, significant challenge identified by our rural grocers was competition 
with big box grocery stores. 
 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S30

http://www.ruralgrocery.org/survey


In the past twenty years, we have seen a tremendous rise in the number of big-box, 
national-chain markets. In addition, big-box wholesalers have moved into the grocery 
business, and now many offer large food sections as part of their stores. Rural store 
owners view these stores as competition that threatens their very survival.  
*We also heard about the challenges of building maintenance, insurance, and shipping 
costs in the grocery business. The most significant operating expense is utilities, 
particularly energy. The costs of heating and cooling any store are significant. 
 
By far, though, the operating cost of refrigeration is the greatest challenge. Many store 
owners struggle with outdated and inefficient coolers. A broken cooler could ruin a 
significant percentage of a grocery’s inventory. 
 
*Many rural grocery stores struggle to find an adequate supply of reliable workers. Besides 
the challenge of finding “good help,” in many small towns there is also the problem of 
finding any employees at all. In many rural communities, there is simply a lack of available 
folks to hire. This can be a real problem, because if the store owner and family are the only 
workers, they are likely to burn out or wear out.  
 
*Rural grocers must abide by a variety of regulations, such as those governing alcohol 
sales, food handling, WIC and SNAP participation, proper labeling, workers’ comp, and 
federal and state wage laws. 
 
Some grocers feel these government regulations are overly intrusive, but for others the 
problem regulations pose is a matter of time and labor. 
 
*Lack of community support is one of the most frustrating challenges faced by rural 
grocers. Grocers say that they are asked to support a variety of community projects – the 
local ball team, church youth groups, the 4-H Club. They are frustrated when they notice 
adult sponsors and parents of these community groups traveling to distant big box stores 
to do their grocery shopping. 
 
*This challenge of low sales volume is related to several others, and of course poses a basic 
problem. Nearly all rural grocery stores – certainly those in Kansas – are required to 
purchase a minimum dollar-amount of food each week from wholesale distributors. For 
small stores and especially those struggling with low sales volumes, this is a significant 
challenge. 
 
If stores cannot meet the minimum, food distributors simply won’t deliver food to their 
stores; they will literally drive right past and onto a store in the next town where the 
minimum can be met. 
 
David E. Procter is director of the Center for Engagement and Community 
Development  at Kansas State University. 

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S31

http://www.k-state.edu/cecd/
http://www.k-state.edu/cecd/


 

 
2017-03-09 Update Memo.docx 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Don Cawby, City Manager 

Re: Projects & Issues Update 

Date: March 9, 2017 

Projects 

CDBG Projects.  We are holding an open house on Wednesday, March 15 at Memorial Hall, from 5:00 to 
6:30, to provide an opportunity for public feedback on the Main Street Phase II project.   

KHRC Site Visit.  We have just learned that we will have a site visit for the LIHTC application of senior 
housing on the “Ten Acres” site.  I am not sure what this means for the success of the application, but 
we will continue to put our best foot forward for this project. 

New Stores.  Construction is progressing according to schedule for both the Dollar General and Casey’s 
General Store buildings.  We are in discussion with Casey’s about needing to replace the approach on 
O’Neal from Main Street and how they might be able to help participate in the replacement.  We have 
not been given a specific commitment, but we believe they will work with us to get that portion of the 
project done before they open.  We believe it would be a much bigger headache to close and repair the 
approach after the store is open for business. 

Issues 

Farmer’s Market.  Diana Neal and Janet McRae are putting the full-court press on to try to figure out 
how to revive a Farmer’s Market in Osawatomie.  I have volunteered to put them wherever works best 
for them and may offer to cover the increased insurance costs associated with having the Market.  I don’t 
yet know the extent of those costs, but I believe we need to provide an opportunity to buy produce 
locally as much as possible. 

Alumni.  Diana Neal contacted me about Alumni having their dance downtown again.  I am very 
supportive of the idea and requested that she put in a special event permit application for the event and 
a beer permit.   

  

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S32



2017-03-09 Update Memo.docx  Page 2 

PRIDE Committee.  We were notified a couple of weeks ago by Sarah Dorsett and Tammy Booe that they 
would no longer be heading the PRIDE committee.  They have both been active with PRIDE for years and 
finally decided it was time to let someone else take over.  We completely understand and appreciate the 
amazing work both of them have done for the community and PRIDE Committee.   

At this time the PRIDE Committee has been acting as the de-facto Tree Board and also has been planting 
and maintaining the flowers in the downtown area.  I would appreciate any help we can get to let people 
know we need more help with both of these projects.  And I would request help in someone taking the 
lead to get the Tree and Parks Committee up and running so we can keep our Tree City USA designation. 

Trees on Main.  On a related note, we will likely need to do a major tree planting along Main Street this 
fall.  I have asked Blake to start looking into some options, but we would really like to replace the 
damaged downtown trees and fill back in the Phase I trees with a variety of trees selected from a 
selection of a short list that we support being planted in the right of way.  We are going to consult with 
Kim Bomberger of KSU for some suggestions, but this is really another task a Tree Board needs to take 
on for providing guidance on both the aesthetic and practical applications of creating a new tree stock. 

Fire Board.  We learned this morning that County Commissioner Rob Roberts made an official request 
of the County Commission to look at abolishing the Fire Board and replacing it with the County 
Commission, and then creating a system where the money for rural fire is distributed to the City Fire 
Departments through a formula or agreement to provide fire coverage for their assigned fire districts.  I 
believe this is something we would be supportive of, subject to a review of the details and how we deal 
with a few wrinkles like capital replacement and our water rescue team.  I will provide more information 
when I have a chance to discuss this with Commissioners Roberts and Pretz. 

Property & Liability Insurance.  We made the decision to go out to bid for Property & Liability Insurance 
again this year.  This decision was prompted by our continuing record of very low losses and the 
likelihood of getting at least 3 bidders and possibly three separate insurers.  I don’t expect the large 
drops like we had a couple of years ago, but I do expect our premiums to be more likely to stay in check.  

Upcoming Meetings/Dates 

March 15 Main Street Phase II Open House 

March 23 City Council Meeting 

April 13 City Council Meeting 

  

2017-03-09 Supplmental Agenda Packet S33


	13 Staff Reports.pdf
	Feb 2017

	2017-03-09 Supplemental Packet.pdf
	1 Sole Proprietorship_RGI_Case Study_FULL COLOR.pdf
	RGI_CaseStudy_Sole1
	RGI_CaseStudy_Sole2
	RGI_CaseStudy_Sole3

	2 Nonprofit_RGI_Case Study_FULL COLOR.pdf
	RGI_CaseStudy_Nonprofit1
	RGI_CaseStudy_Nonprofit2
	RGI_CaseStudy_Nonprofit3

	3 Cooperative_RGI_Case Study_FULL COLOR.pdf
	RGI_CaseStudy_Coop1
	RGI_CaseStudy_Coop2
	RGI_CaseStudy_Coop3

	4 Public Private_RGI_Case Study_FULL COLOR.pdf
	RGI_CaseStudy_PPP1
	RGI_CaseStudy_PPP2
	RGI_CaseStudy_PPP3

	5 Community Owned_RGI_Case Study_FULL COLOR.pdf
	RGI_CaseStudy_CommOwn1
	RGI_CaseStudy_CommOwn2
	RGI_CaseStudy_CommOwn3

	7 THE RURAL GROCERY CRISIS Article - David Proctor.pdf
	THE RURAL GROCERY CRISIS





